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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

I. Whether Plaintiffs sufficiently alleged facts to support a claim challenging a 

company’s statements is inactionable as a matter of law under 15 U.S.C. § 

78j(b), and whether Plaintiffs properly pleaded scienter under a heightened 

standard. 

II. Whether a claim under 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) requires a Plaintiff to bear the 

burden of pleading culpable participation and to state facts with 

particularity that create a strong inference that a Defendant was at least 

reckless in their control-person duties. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Defendant James Wilson founded Red River, an independent oil 

exploration company based in West Texas, in 1962 and took the company 

public in 1985. R. at 2-3. While serving as Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), 

Wilson expanded the company dramatically and eventually named Pamela 

Thompson as Chief Operating and Environmental Officer (“COO”) and Sandra 

Grimes as Senior Vice President and General Counsel (“VP”). R. at 3.  

As the productivity of domestic oil fields began to decrease, Wilson 

decided to pursue fracking in 2000. R. at 4. Fracking involves blasting millions 

of gallons of water, sand, and chemicals against shale rock formations in order 

to bring oil and gas to the surface. Id. In some cases, before vertical wells are 

drilled into the earth, the shale rock is blasted to make it more permeable, 

causing a discharge of wastewater. The water is stored in “closed container 

tanks” and then piped to treatment plants, where it is safely discharged 

through underground injection. Id. 

After weighing the risks associated with fracking, Wilson decided to begin 

drilling in the West Texas Darnett Shale. Id. Red River’s annual quarterly 

disclosure statements fully informed investors of the potential environmental 

risks known to be associated with fracking, but continuously reiterated that 

such risks had never materially impacted Red River’s income or operations. Id. 

In late 2017, Red River was made aware of low-level seismic activity in an 

area of active fracking. (R. at 5.) The company’s environmental compliance 
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team did not believe that the seismic activity was attributable to Red River’s 

operations, and neither Thompson nor Grimes believed it required disclosure or 

further investigation. Id. Red River’s March 1, 2018 Annual Report and Form 

10-K stated, “[t]here is no higher priority than ensuring that our drilling 

activity continues to be conducted in a manner consistent with protecting the 

environment and preventing or remediating any damage resulting from an 

environmental occurrence.” (“Statement 2”) (R. at 6).  

Red River’s Form 10-K further stated that they continued to invest in 

“the latest technology in order to minimize surface water or soil 

contamination,” which differentiated Red River from its competitors. 

(“Statement 4”) Id. Additionally, the Form-K stated that Red River “conduct[s] 

frequent environmental practice reviews to assure our commitment to 

environmental best practices and devote[s] our most talented personnel and a 

substantial budget to ensuring protection of the environment.” (“Statement 3”) 

Id. They also noted that the fracking process “involves no serious 

environmental issues not associated with conventional drilling.” (“Statement 5”) 

Id. 

In May 2018, Red River received another series of calls from geology 

departments reporting increased low-level seismic activity. (R. at 7.) Wilson, 

Grimes, and Thompson together decided that the activity did not warrant 

disclosure, but contacted a prominent university geologist to undertake an 

investigation anyway. Id. After a third series of calls regarding low-level seismic 
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activity on May 28, 2018, Thompson and Grimes decided to revisit the 

possibility of a disclosure after the company’s scheduled environmental review. 

Id. The company did not that its “operations could be subject to disruption by 

natural disasters beyond our control,” including “severe storms, fires, 

earthquakes, civil unrest, and terrorist attacks” (“Statement 8”) on a Form 10-

Q quarterly report issued on June 1, 2018R. R. at 7-8. 

Mr. Wilson maintained a belief that the seismic activity was unconnected 

to Red River’s fracking. During a May 2018 oil and gas conference, Wilson 

noted, “I think we have the tightest environmental practices in the West Texas 

oil patch” (“Statement 6”) and “[c]andidly, I honestly believe a major 

environmental event has about a zero percent chance of occurring on our 

property. We just pay too much attention for that to happen.” (“Statement 7”) 

Id. 

On June 3, 2018, the Teacher Retirement System of Fordham (“TRSF”) 

purchased Red River shares for $27 million on the New York Stock Exchange. 

(R. at 8.) On June 7, 2018, the Fordham Municipal Retirement Fund (“FMRF”) 

purchased Red River shares for $31 million. Id. 

On June 10, 2018, a series of mid-level seismic shocks hit the Eagle Ford 

Shale and destroyed Red River’s toxic wastewater storage site. Id. Millions of 

gallons of wastewater infiltrated West Texas groundwater and aquifers. Id. 

Subsequently, Red River’s common stock price dropped significantly. However, 
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on August 1, 2018, federal and state government agencies reported that it was 

inconclusive whether the blasting had contributed to the seismic activity. Id. 

Plaintiffs TSRF and FMRF filed a putative class action against Wilson 

and Red River under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and 

Rule10b-5 promulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (collectively, 

“Section 10(b)”). The complaint also asserted a control person liability claim 

against Wilson under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) 

(“Section 20(a)”). R. at 9. The District Court granted Defendants’ Fed. R. Civ. P. 

12(b)(6) motion to dismiss both claims, finding that plaintiffs failed to identify 

materially misleading statements, allege scienter under the PSLRA, or plead 

Wilson’s culpable participation with particularity. The Fourteenth Circuit 

reversed and defendants subsequently filed this appeal. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Court should dismiss the Plaintiffs’ claims for a failure to state a 

claim upon which relief can be granted. The Defendants’ Statements 2-4 are 

merely corporate mismanagement, an inactionable claim under Section 10(b). 

Plaintiffs are asking the Court to expand Section 10(b) well beyond its intended 

limits. There is no remedy for a disagreement in management decisions. Even if 

this Court does find that the statements amount to more than corporate 

mismanagement, it must be found that the challenged statements are 

inactionable puffery. Corporate optimism is not a securities violation, and 

Defendants expressed only aspirational opinions of the company. Moreover, the 
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claim must fail because Plaintiffs failed to sufficiently plead scienter under the 

“strong inference” standard of the PSLRA. An opposing inference could just as 

likely be drawn against the Defendants’ state of mind, thus requiring Plaintiffs’ 

scienter claim to fail. All elements of the prima facie case must be shown, and 

Plaintiffs’ have failed to do so. 

This Court should find that culpable participation is a prima facie 

element of control person liability under Section 20(a) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934. In passing both the 1934 and 1933 Acts, Congress 

intended to restrict liability to only those controlling persons who had some 

knowledge of the alleged underlying violation. Congress did not intend for every 

director to be the insurer of their employees’ unlawful behavior. Furthermore, 

since culpable participation is an allegation regarding the Defendant’s state of 

mind, the heightened pleading requirements of the PSLRA are applicable. The 

result that should follow from this Court’s decisions is that future Plaintiffs 

have the burden of pleading culpable participation under Section 20(a) and 

must state facts with particularity that create a strong inference that the 

Defendant was at least reckless in their control-person duties. 

ARGUMENT 

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW. 

“To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient 

factual matter, accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its 

face.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (internal quotations omitted). 
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Whether the Plaintiff has stated a claim sufficient to survive a motion to 

dismiss pursuant to F. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) is a question of law and is reviewed 

de novo. Fire and Police Pension Ass’n of Colorado v. Abiomed, Inc., 778 F.2d 

228, 241 (1st Cir. 2015).  

II. THE APPELLATE COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE MOTION TO 
DISMISS BECAUSE THE CHALLENGED CLAIMS ARE INACTIONABLE 
UNDER 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) AS A MATTER OF LAW AND DO NOT 
ADEQUATELY PLEAD SCIENTER 

A. Statements 2-4 are mere corporate mismanagement, rendering them 
inactionable under Section 10(b) as a matter of law. 

TRSF and FMRF have failed to state a claim under Section 10(b) because 

the defendants’ statements are inactionable. It is unlawful for a company “to 

use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security . . . any 

manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of such rules 

and regulations as the [Securities and Exchange Commission] may prescribe . . 

. .” 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b). Furthermore, a company may not “make any untrue 

statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to 

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they 

were made, not misleading.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. In order to state an 

actionable Section 10(b) claim, a plaintiff must allege that the defendant, inter 

alia, made a material misrepresentation in connection with the sale of a 

security. Dura Pharmaceuticals v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 341 (2005).  

The Supreme Court has identified various categories of statements which 

cannot form the basis of a Section 10(b) violation, including corporate 

mismanagement and inactionable puffery. The district court properly dismissed 
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the claims relating to Statements 2-4 on the grounds that the statements 

amount to mere corporate mismanagement.  

The Supreme Court has undoubtedly demonstrated that Section 10(b) is 

not violated by conduct which is neither manipulative nor deceptive, but 

instead represents “no more than internal corporate mismanagement.” Santa 

Fe Indus. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 479 (1977). In Santa Fe, a company carried 

out a short-form merger under state corporation law, notifying the minority 

shareholders after the merger became effective and furnishing them with an 

information statement containing financial data. Id. at 464-67.  The company 

advised the minority shareholders of their right to obtain a state court 

appraisal of the fair value of their stock if they were dissatisfied with the price 

offered under the terms of the merger. Id. The minority shareholders brought 

an action under Section 10(b), alleging that the company knew the appraised 

value of the assets, but obtained a fraudulent appraisal in order to lower the 

stock price in the merger. Id. at 467.  

The Court emphasized the fundamental elements of deception or 

manipulation as necessary to maintain a Section 10(b) claim. Id. at 473. 

Manipulation “is . . . a term of art when used in connection with securities 

markets. . . . The term refers generally to practices, such as wash sales, 

matched orders, or rigged prices, that are intended to mislead investors by 

artificially affecting market activity.” Id. at 476 (internal citations omitted). 

Thus, the Court states that Congress would not have chosen this “term of art” 
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if it desired to cover cases of corporate mismanagement, such as when the 

essence of the complaint alleges breach of fiduciary duty. Id. at 477. The Court 

also found no elements of deception in Santa Fe. Id. at 474-476.  

 Statements 2-4 are not manipulative or deceptive under Section 10(b). 

Wilson’s statements regarding Red River’s commitment to environmentally safe 

practices did not constitute conduct which intended to alter the market price of 

Red River’s stock or induce plaintiffs to purchase stock in Red River. If the 

“central thrust” of the conduct at issue is corporate mismanagement, as it is 

here, there is no remedy in securities law. Panter v. Marshall Field & Co., 646 

F.2d 271, 289 (7th Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1092 (1981). Here, the 

issues that plaintiffs contend are accountable to corporate mismanagement 

and thus are not actionable. 

Plaintiffs may disagree with Red River’s management decisions regarding 

environmental safety, but there is no claim in securities law for differing 

business opinions. While mismanagement “may be just as reprehensible as a 

misleading statement regarding the value of a security to be sold,” there is no 

remedy prescribed by Section 10(b). Suez Equity Investors, L.P. v. Toronto-

Dominion Bank, 250 F.3d 87, 99 (2d Cir. 2001). Simply because plaintiffs feel 

the corporate practices were unfair does not allow them to “bootstrap garden-

variety state law claims of breach of fiduciary duty into federal securities 

claims. . . .” Id. Where the validity of a claim of misstatement rests solely on a 

legal determination that the transaction was unfair, or that an officer or 

director’s conduct amounted to a breach of his fiduciary duty, Section 10(b) 



  P10 
 

 14 

may not be invoked. Kas v. Financial General Bankshares, Inc., 796 F.2d 508, 

513 (D.C. Cir. 1986). Here, plaintiffs fail to plead facts that would lead this 

Court to believe that the defendants were intentionally misleading 

shareholders. Therefore, defendants distaste for the plaintiffs’ management 

decisions does not rise to the level of securities law violations. 

Plaintiffs rely on information that only became available after the share 

price dropped in order to bolster their claim the challenged statements were 

misleading. However, “fraud by hindsight” has been continuously held 

inactionable. See City of Dearborn Heights Act 345 Police & Fire Ret. Sys. v. 

Waters Corp., 632 F.3d 751 (1st Cir. 2011) (“Pleading ‘fraud by hindsight,’ 

essentially making general allegations that defendants knew earlier what later 

turned out badly, is not sufficient.”) (quoting Ezra Charitable Trust v. Tyco Int’l, 

Ltd., 466 F.3d 1, 6 (1st Cir. 2006)). A statement believed to be true when made, 

but later shown to be false, is insufficient. In re Lululemon Sec. Litig., 14 F. 

Supp. 3d 553, 571 (S.D.N.Y. 2014). 

Plaintiffs allege that Statements 2-4 were false and misleading. However, 

this is categorically incorrect. Where the plaintiff claims the falsity of a belief, 

they must also demonstrate that it was both objectively false and disbelieved 

by the defendant at the time it was made. Id; see City of Omaha, Neb. Civilian 

Emps.’ Ret. Sys. v. CBS Corp., 679 F.3d 64, 67-68 (2d Cir. 2012) (“[A] plaintiff 

must ‘plausibly allege that defendants did not believe [their] statements at the 

time they made them’ to plead a material misstatement . . . .”) Wilson genuinely 
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believed his statements at the time he made them. Red River’s environmental 

team believed it was “unlikely” that the low-level seismic activity was related to 

fracking. R. at 5. An email exchange between Grimes and Thompson shows 

that the team did not think that the calls rose to a level requiring disclosure. 

Id. Therefore, upon the reliance on his highly qualified environmental team, 

Wilson believed that preventing environmental damage was of the “[highest] 

priority,” and that his “talented personnel” were committed to environmental 

safety. R. at 6. The respondents cannot plead that the defendants knew the 

challenged statements were false at the time they were made.  

Whether or not the defendants’ activities were the cause of the seismic 

activity1 is legally irrelevant. A determination of fault would not sustain the 

Section 10(b) claim because “[l]iability cannot be imposed on the basis of 

subsequent events.” In re MobileMedia Sec. Litig., 28 F. Supp. 2d 901, 925 

(D.N.J. 1998). Plaintiffs have the luxury of hindsight, including the knowledge 

of significantly more information than was available to the defendants at the 

time the statements were made. Plaintiffs cannot now “attempt to impose 

liability on management for unrealized economic predictions.” Id. While post 

hoc investigative reports indicate potential areas where Red River could have 

improved its operations, the information currently available does not mirror 

that which Red River had at the time the statements were made. R. at 8. 

                                       

1 Currently, the cause of the seismic activity remains undetermined. R. at 8.  
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Plaintiffs also allege that by omitting the geologists’ calls from their 

public statements, the defendants were misleading shareholders. Omissions 

are only actionable “if a defendant is under a duty to disclose information and 

fails to do so.” Lululemon, 14 F.Supp.3d at 571; see Levitt v. J.P. Morgan Sec., 

Inc., 710 F.3d 454, 465 (2d Cir. 2013). Defendants must have had a duty to 

disclose such information in order for the disclosure to be considered 

misleading. Lululemon, 14 F.Supp.3d at 572. Section 10(b) does not, itself, 

create an affirmative duty to disclose all material information. See Matrixx 

Initiatives. Inc. v. Siracusano, 563 U.S. 27, 44 (2011). A duty to disclose arises 

“expressly pursuant to an independent statute or regulation, or as a result of 

the ongoing duty to avoid rendering existing statements misleading by failing to 

disclose material facts. Lululemon, 14 F.Supp.3d at 572; see 17 C.F.R. § 

240.10b-5(b). Disclosure is not required simply because an investor might find 

the information relevant or of interest. Resnik v. Swartz, 303 F.3d 147, 154 (2d 

Cir. 2002).  

Plaintiffs have failed to sufficiently plead that Statements 2-4 were 

anything more than corporate mismanagement or “fraud by hindsight,” which 

are inactionable and have no remedy under Section 10(b). They are asking the 

Court to expand Section 10(b) well beyond its intended bounds. Thus, their 

claims should be dismissed for failure to state a claim on which relief can be 

granted.  
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B. To the Extent that the Court finds Statements 2-4 to be More Than 
Corporate Mismanagement, all of the Challenged Statements are no 
More Than Inactionable “Puffery” under Section 10(b). 

Even if this Court finds that Statements 2-4 rise above the level of mere 

corporate mismanagement, all of the challenged statements cannot be found as 

more than inactionable “puffery.” Puffery and “general statements about 

reputation, integrity, and compliance with ethical norms” do not give rise to 

securities violations under Section 10(b). City of Pontiac Policemen’s & 

Firemen’s Ret. Sys. v. UBS AG, 752 F.3d 173, 183 (2d Cir. 2014). Even “‘[r]osy 

predictions,’ or statements that are loosely optimistic regarding a company's 

well-being,” are too general to be considered anything more than puffery and 

corporate aspiration. Lululemon, 14 F.Supp.3d at 572. Red River’s optimistic 

statements regarding its general commitments and integrity in its 

environmental practices are inactionable as a matter of law. 

An essential element of a Section 10(b) claim is that the allegedly 

misleading statements are “material.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. In order for a 

statement to be material, “there [must be] a substantial likelihood that a 

reasonable shareholder would consider it important in deciding how to act.” In 

re Banco Bradesco S.A. Sec. Litig., 277 F. Supp. 3d 600, 646 (S.D.N.Y. 2017). 

“The question of materiality [is] universally agreed [to be] an objective one, 

involving the significance of an omitted or misrepresented fact to a reasonable 

investor.” Lululemon, 14 F.Supp.3d at 572 (quoting TSC Indus., Inc. v. 

Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 445 (1976)).  It is important that the Court does 

not make the standard of materiality “too low . . . for fear that management 
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would bury the shareholders in an avalanche of trivial information.” Lululemon, 

14 F.Supp.3d at 572 (quoting Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusano, 563 U.S. 

27, 38 (2011).  

Defendants’ challenged statements are analogous to those in Lululemon. 

14 F.Supp.3d 553. Lululemon claimed their quality level was the “highest in 

the industry” and that the company was the “leader in technical fabrics and 

quality construction.” Id. 575-76. The company also touted that the “quality of 

[their] products is paramount . . . [and] . . . superior.” Id. at 576. The court 

emphasized two factors which pulled the statements out of Section 10(b) 

territory: context and personal beliefs. Id. at 577-79.  

Similarly, defendants’ challenged statements were bolstered by  these 

elements. Just as Lululemon “believe[s] that [their] brand is recognized as 

premium in our offerings of run and yoga assortment, as well as a leader in . . . 

fabrics and quality . . .,” id. at 578 (emphasis in original), defendants believed 

they “have the tightest environmental practices.” R. at 36. Vital context to all of 

the statements is found in Statement 8, where Red River assured the public 

that the company’s business model is not without flaws, as it is “subject to 

disruption by natural disasters.” Id. The court was satisfied that Lululemon 

“explicit[ly] recogni[zed]. . . the possibility of product defects,” an honesty that 

Respondents have equally demonstrated. Lululemon, 14 F.Supp.3d at 571. 

Statements regarding projections of future performance may be 

actionable under Section 10(b) if they are worded as guarantees. In re IBM 
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Corporate Sec. Litig., 163 F.3d 102, 107 (2d Cir. 1998) (emphasis added). The 

challenged statements do not resemble any type of promise, as they are clearly 

aspirational and not tied to factual knowledge. Defendant simply “believe[d] a 

major environmental event ha[d]. . . a zero percent chance of occurring” and 

“[thought]” the company had “the tightest environmental practices.” R. at 36 

(emphasis added). The Lululemon court found that, because the company had 

revealed the potential for product defects, their statements could not be 

understood as guarantees. 14 F.Supp.3d, 577-78. Besides demonstrating that 

the statements were not in themselves promises, statements cannot be 

considered guarantees as Red River also admitted to potential faults. R. at 36. 

Objectively, the defendants’ statements were “too general to cause a 

reasonable investor to rely upon them.” City of Pontiac, 752 F.3d at 183. 

Wilson’s references to “unwavering” commitment (Statement 1), “pay[ing] too 

much attention” to allow an environmental disaster (Statement 7), and the fact 

that there is “no higher priority” than environmental compliance (Statement 2), 

are open-ended aspirational statements and inactionable puffery. No rational 

investor would have depended upon these statements when contemplating 

their decision to purchase the company’s securities. 

C. The Respondents did not Adequately Plead Scienter in the Manner 
Required by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 
because they did not Adequately Allege Facts that Showed Motive or 
Existential Circumstances. 

Even if this Court finds that the challenged statements constitute 

misleading statements under Section 10(b), the plaintiffs’ claim must fail 
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because they did not adequately plead scienter. Scienter, or “a mental state 

embracing intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud,” receives a heightened 

pleading standard under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 

(“PSLRA”), 15 U.S.C. § 70u-4(b)(1). Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 

551 U.S. 308, 319, 321 (2007).  

The heightened pleading standards of the PSLRA “unequivocally raised 

the bar for pleading scienter,” requiring a plaintiff alleging a false or misleading 

statement to: “(1) specify each statement alleged to have been misleading [and] 

the reason or reasons why the statement is misleading; and (2) state with 

particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the defendant acted 

with the required state of mind.” Id. at 321 (internal citations and quotation 

marks omitted). A showing of scienter “must be more than merely ‘reasonable’ 

or ‘permissible’—it must be cogent and compelling . . . . A complaint will 

survive . . . only if a reasonable person would deem the inference of 

scienter . . . at least as compelling as any opposing inference one could draw 

from the facts alleged.” Id. at 323.  

Facts giving rise to a strong inference of scienter can be alleged by (1) 

pleading the motive and opportunity of the maker of a statement to commit the 

fraud, or (2) strong circumstantial evidence of conscious misbehavior or 

recklessness. Kalnit v. Eichler, 264 F.3d 131, 138 (2d Cir. 2001). A “motive” 

allegation should demonstrate some “concrete benefits” to the individual or 

company that could be realized by making false statements. Id. Baseless 
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allegations of interest in corporate profit or keeping share prices high are 

insufficient. Id. The Second Circuit even struck down a motive allegation as 

insufficient when the executive officer was interested in keeping share prices 

high in order to increase his own personal compensation. Id. Here, plaintiffs 

fail to allege any motive at all, much less one that would plausibly indicate 

intent to deceive shareholders. Indeed, there are no facts that could feasibly 

establish deceptive motive by Wilson or Red River.  

Plaintiffs also fail to allege facts that could plausibly show Red River 

acted at least recklessly in disregarding the possibility that the statements 

could mislead its shareholders. “Where a plaintiff fails to plead motive, its 

allegations regarding . . . recklessness must be correspondingly greater.” 

Lululemon, 14 F. Supp. 3d at 573.  To meet the recklessness standard, 

plaintiffs must show that “a defendant’s conduct was ‘highly unreasonable[’] 

and constituted ‘an extreme departure from the standards of ordinary care to 

the extent that the danger was either known to the defendant or so obvious 

that the defendant must have been aware of it.’” Id. (quoting South Cherry 

Street, LLC v. Hennessee Group LLC, 573 F.3d 98, 109 (2d Cir. 2009)). The facts 

herein do not support such a conclusion. Wilson and his team did not believe 

that the statements were misleading at the time they were made. The company 

made the decision not to disclose the calls from the geologists despite serious 

contemplation and consideration by Thompson and Grimes as to the gravity of 

the information. Wilson, guided by his team of environmental experts, believed 

Red River was in the position to state the challenged statements as the truth.  
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While a showing that Wilson had access to information that was 

contradictory to his statements and then ignored them could be considered 

reckless under the standard, Lululemon, 14 F. Supp. 3d at 574, that is not the 

case here. The phone calls from geologists could not be contemplated as 

anything more than speculative information. There was no proven causal link 

between the reported seismic activity and the defendants’ actions at the time 

the calls were received. R. at 5. Any notion that there may be correlation 

between the fracking and the activity was merely conjecture that Red River’s 

environmental team believed was reasonably comfortable was altogether 

unrelated to the company’s fracking activities. R. at 5, 7.  

Plaintiffs’ complaints also attempt to rely on events subsequent to the 

date of any statements to support their allegation of scienter. However, courts 

have made clear that securities law is not intended as further punishment to 

companies for negative consequences of unforeseen events. MobileMedia Sec. 

Litig., 28 F. Supp. 2d at 925.  

Plaintiffs must show that the intent to deceive shareholders, or at least 

reckless disregard of facts that could in turn deceive shareholders, was present 

at the time the statements were made. See Lustgraaf v. Behrens, 619 F.3d 867, 

874 (8th Cir. 2010) (“We have previously found allegations insufficient where 

they point to a statement that a defendant made ‘and then show [] in hindsight 

that the statement is false.’”) A reasonable inference could be drawn against 

the notion that the defendants knew the statements were deceiving at the time 
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they made them, thus barring respondents from proceeding further with their 

allegations in this case. 

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DECIDING THAT PLAINTIFFS WERE 
NOT REQUIRED TO PLEAD DEFENDANT’S CULPABLE 
PARTICIPATION AS A PRIMA FACIE ELEMENT OF A SECTION 20(a) 
CONTROL PERSON LIABILITY CLAIM. 

The defendant’s motion to dismiss the plaintiffs’ Section 20(a) control 

person liability claim should be granted because the plaintiffs failed to 

adequately plead James Wilson’s culpable participation with particularity. 

Culpable participation should be a prima facie element of Section 20(a) control 

person liability claims because it accurately reflects Congress’ intent to impose 

liability only on those directors that had knowledge of, or participated in, the 

underlying violation. Furthermore, since culpable participation requires 

allegations about the defendant’s state of mind regarding the commission of the 

underlying fraud violation, in order to survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to 

dismiss, the plaintiff must meet the heightened pleading requirements of the 

Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (“PSLRA”). 

A. Requiring Plaintiffs to Plead Culpable Participation as a Prima Facie 
Element for a Section 20(a) Control Person Liability Claim is 
Consistent with Congressional Intent.  

Section 20(a), passed as part of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, 

holds that “[e]very person who directly or indirectly, controls any person liable 

under any provision of this chapter […] shall also be liable […] unless the 

controlling person acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce 

the act or acts constituting the violation.” 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a). All of the Circuit 
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Courts have agreed that the presence of an underlying violation and control of 

the primary violator are prima facie elements for control person liability2. 

Dispute amongst the Circuits involves whether culpable participation by the 

controlling person in the underlying violation should also be a prima facie 

element of a Plaintiff’s complaint.  

The legislative history behind the Securities Exchange Acts of 1933 and 

1934 supports the requirement that a defendant be a culpable participant in 

the underlying fraud in order to be liable as a control person. In Lanza v. 

Drexel & Co., the Court’s extensive review of congressional reports lead to a 

determination that it was the legislature’s intent that liability attach only to 

directors “who are in some meaningful sense culpable participants in the fraud 

perpetrated by the controlled persons.” 479 F.2d 1277, 1299 (2d Cir. 1973).  

Lanza dealt with the issue of whether Rule 10b-5 of the 1934 Securities 

Exchange Act imposed a duty on a director to “insure that all material, adverse 

information is conveyed to prospective purchasers of the corporation’s stock.” 

Id. at 1289. In order to answer that question, the Lanza court consulted 

evidence about Congress’s intent to hold corporate directors vicariously liable 

for their agent’s violations in the passing of the 1933 and 1934 Acts. The 

ultimate decision to impose liability only on culpably participating directors 

was influenced by a message from President Franklin D. Roosevelt to Congress 

                                       

2 See In re Harman Intern. Industries Inc. Securities Litigation, 791 F.3d 90, 111 (D.C. 2015); 
Donohoe v. Consolidated Operating & Production Corp., 982 F.2d 1130, 1138 (7th Cir. 1992) 
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which stated that “[t]he purpose of the legislation I suggest is to protect the 

public with the least possible interference to honest business.” Id. at 1294 

(emphasis added; internal quotations omitted). The House report echoed 

President Roosevelt’s sentiments, stating: “To require them [directors] to 

guarantee the absolute accuracy of every statement that they are called upon 

to make, would be to gain nothing in the way of an effective remedy and to fall 

afoul of the President’s injunction.” Id. (quoting H.R. Rep. No. 85 at 21-22 

(1933)).  

While the House of Representative’s version of the 1933 Act advocated for 

less of a burden on directors, the Senate’s version was stricter and would 

provide purchasers with a cause of action against “the person or persons 

signing, issuing, using, or causing, directly or indirectly, such false or deceptive 

representation, jointly or severally.” Id. at 1295. In the end, the 1933 Act 

reflected the House’s version and “rejected the stricter approach toward 

directors’ responsibility urged by the Senate.” Id. at 1296.  

The 1934 Act further expressed Congress’ intent to limit the vicarious 

liability of controlling directors. Pertinently, the 1934 Act amended several of 

the 1933 Act’s provisions including Section 15, which had “held control 

persons absolutely liable for the Section 11 or Section 12 violations of those 

whom they controlled.” Id. at 1298 (emphasis added). The 1934 Act created an 

exception for control person liability where “the controlling person had no 
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knowledge of or reasonable ground to believe in the existence of the facts by 

reason of which the liability of the controlled person is alleged to exist.” Id.  

The legislative history of the 1933 and 1934 Acts shows a clear intention 

by Congress to provide controlling directors with a realistic duty to prevent any 

fraudulent statements or transactions which they know about or actually 

participate in. The legislative history shows no intention, however, “to provide a 

cause of action based on either mere negligence or liability without fault. There 

is no evidence that Congress intended that . . . anyone should be an insurer 

against false or misleading statements.” Kohn v. American Metal Climax, Inc., 

458 F.2d 255, 280 (3d Cir. 1972). Requiring plaintiffs to plead a controlling 

person’s culpable participation in the underlying violation for a Section 20(a) 

claim is consistent with this Congressional intent to impose liability only on 

those directors who have some knowledge of or participation in the unlawful 

behavior. 

Jurisdictions that have not required an allegation of culpable 

participation at the pleading stage have applied the agency principles of 

respondeat superior to the secondary liability analysis under Section 20(a). See 

Hollinger v. Titan Capital Corp., 914 F.2d 1564, 1577 (9th Cir. 1990) (holding 

that § 20(a) was not intended to supplant the common law theory of respondeat 

superior as a basis for vicarious liability). In Marbury Mgmt., Inc. v. Kohn, 629 

F.2d 705 (2d Cir. 1980), the Second Circuit held that directors could be held 
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liable under theories of respondeat superior, but under a cause of action 

separate from Section 20(a). Id. at 716.  

Defendants do not argue whether Section 20(a) is the exclusive way to 

assess secondary liability on controlling persons. What is relevant to the case 

at bar is Congress’ clear intent to avoid extending the respondeat superior 

principles to Section 20(a) claims. See Rochez Bros., Inc. v. Rhoades, 527 F.2d 

880, 885 (3d Cir. 1975) (“to use respondeat superior for imposing secondary 

liability would not advance the legislative purpose of the 1934 Act”). In 

Rhoades, the Third Circuit acknowledged that liability of corporations and 

directors under respondeat superior principles would be inappropriately 

expanded in a way that Congress could not have intended. Id. at 885-86 The 

court stated that such an expansion “would make the corporation primarily 

liable for any security law violation by any officer or employee of the 

corporation” and that “[t]o exact this duty on a mere showing of a principal 

agent relationship would violate the legislative purpose and effectively nullify 

the ‘controlling person’ provision of the Act.” Id. Importantly, respondeat 

superior would make affirmative defenses to Section 20(a), such as good faith, 

unavailable. Id.  

A review of the legislative history of the 1933 and 1934 Acts shows that 

Congress intended to restrict controlling liability to directors who had 

knowingly participated in the underlying violation. In this regard, the decision 

to reject the Senate bill’s strict liability approach and amend Section 15 of the 



  P10 
 

 28 

1933 Act are determinative. Congress did not intend for directors to be the 

insurers of their employees’ liability. The circuits which have neglected to 

acknowledge culpable participation as a prima facie element of controlling 

person liability have contravened the legislatures’ intent. 

B. Requiring Plaintiffs to Plead Culpable Participation Preserves the 
Affirmative Defense of Good Faith. 

While most Circuits agree that Section 20(a) involves some element of 

culpability, see Laperriere v. Vesta Ins. Grp., Inc., 526 F.3d 715, 723 (3d Cir. 

2008), many courts believe that requiring Plaintiffs to plead culpable 

participation removes the burden from the Defendant to prove that they acted 

in good faith. See Arthur Children’s Tr. v. Keim, 994 F.2d 1390, 1398 (9th Cir. 

1993). However, the Second and Third Circuit Courts preserve the affirmative 

defense while still requiring the plaintiffs to allege that the controlling person 

“knew or should have known that the primary violator, over whom that person 

had control, was engaging in fraudulent conduct.” Burstyn v. Worldwide Xceed 

Group, Inc., No. 01 Civ. 1125(GEL), 2002 WL 31191741, at *7-8 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 

30, 2002).  

In S.E.C. v. First Jersey Sec., Inc., 101 F.3d 1450 (2d Cir. 1996), the 

Second Circuit clarified that culpability was a prima facie element of control 

person liability and that “[o]nce the plaintiff makes out a prima facie case of § 

20(a) liability, the burden shifts to the defendant to show that he acted in good 

faith.” Id. at 1472-73 (See also Belmont v. MB Inv. Partners, Inc., 708 F.3d 470, 

484 (3d Cir. 2013). This view of how to plead and defend against Section 20(a) 
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control liability claims is the method that Congress had in mind when it passed 

the Securities Exchange of 1934 and conforms to the idea that Congress’ intent 

was “obviously to impose liability only on those directors who fall within its 

definition of control and who are in some meaningful sense culpable 

participants in the fraud perpetrated by controlled persons.” Lanza, 479 F.2d 

at 1299. 

Here, the TSRF and FMRF should be required to allege facts that 

Wilson’s action was “deliberate and done intentionally to further the fraud.” 

Stichting Pensioenfonds ABP v. Merck & Co., Inc., No. 05–5060, 2012 WL 

3235783 at *11 (D.N.J. Aug. 1, 2012). If they are unable to sufficiently allege 

Wilson’s reckless participation in the underlying violation, as is the case here, 

the complaint should be dismissed. If, however, a plaintiff carries their burden 

of alleging the control person’s knowledge of the fraud, the defendant would be 

able to assert the good faith affirmative defense. This scheme is consistent with 

the language of Section 20(a) and reflects the intent of Congress. 

C. The Plaintiffs Failed to Plead Wilson’s Culpable Participation with 
Particularity as Required by the PSLRA. 

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (“PSLRA”) states:  

[I]n any private action […] in which the plaintiff may 
recover money damages only on proof that the 
defendant acted with a particular state of mind, the 
complaint shall, with respect to each act or omission 
alleged to violate this chapter, state with particularity 
facts giving rise to a strong inference that the 
defendant acted with the required state of mind. 
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15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2)(A). Since culpable participation is a prima facie 

element of control person liability, the PSLRA demands that plaintiffs “state 

with particularity the circumstances of both the defendants’ control of the 

primary violator, as well of the defendants’ culpability as controlling persons.” 

Universal American Corp. v. Partners Healthcare Solutions Holdings, L.P., 176 

F.Supp.3d 387, 397 (D. Del. 2016).  

Culpable participation implies “a culpable state of mind. If [culpable 

participation] is an element of a claim under § 20(a), the PSLRA’s strong-

inference requirement would appear to apply, as well.” In re Stone & Webster, 

Inc., Securities Litigation, 414 F.3d 187, 196 n.6 (1st Cir. 2005). Even in 

Circuits that do not recognize culpable participation as a prima facie element, 

some courts still require that, under the PSLRA, “the complaint must plead the 

circumstances of the control relationship with particularity.” In re Splash 

Technology Holdings, Inc. Sec. Litig., No. C 99-00109 SBA, 2000 WL 1727377, 

at *25 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 29, 2000).  

The application of the PSLRA’s heightened pleading standards to Section 

20(a) control liability claims is fully consistent with Congressional intent. See 

Edison Fund v. Cogent Inv. Strategies Fund, Ltd., 551 F.Supp.2d 210, 231 

(S.D.N.Y. 2008) (stating that accepting allegations below at least recklessness 

would be at odds with the Court of Appeals’ requirement that prima facie 

liability involve meaningful culpable participation.).  
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The Plaintiffs’ complaint fails to adequately allege James Wilson’s 

culpable participation as a prima facie element. In Lapin v. Goldman Sachs 

Grp., Inc., the court found that “in order to withstand a motion to dismiss, a 

section 20(a) claim must allege, at a minimum, particularized facts of the 

controlling person’s conscious misbehavior or recklessness.” 506 F.Supp.2d 

221, 246 (S.D.N.Y. 2006).  

The Southern District of New York has further held that the PSLRA’s 

heightened pleading standards would be satisfied if plaintiffs were able to plead 

facts “giving rise to a strong inference that the controlling person knew or 

should have known that the primary violator was engaging in fraudulent 

conduct . . . , failed to review or check information that he or she had a duty to 

monitor . . . , or ignored obvious signs of fraud.” In re Alstom SA, 406 

F.Supp.2d 433, 491-92 (S.D.N.Y. 2005). At the very least, culpable 

participation requires “something more than negligence.” See Ernst & Ernst v. 

Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 209 n. 28 (1976) (“Each of the provisions of the 1934 

Act that expressly create civil liability . . . contains a state-of-mind condition 

requiring something more than negligence.”).  

Here, the facts do not indicate that Wilson acted with either “conscious 

misbehavior or recklessness.” McIntire v. China MediaExpress Holdings, Inc., 

927 F.Supp.2d 105, 123 (S.D.N.Y. 2013). While Wilson was personally 

responsible for some of the statements made on Red River’s disclosure 

documents and financial reports, he did not possess the requisite state of mind 
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for culpable participation. See Sheehan v. Little Switzerland, Inc., 136 

F.Supp.2d 301, 315 (D. Del. 2001) (holding that culpable participation was 

only satisfied where directors knew that the SEC filings contained an omission 

likely to mislead the market). See also Universal American Corp. 176 F.Supp.3d 

at 398 (plaintiffs showed culpable participation where the director intentionally 

prevented the discovery of the underlying fraud).  

Wilson was aware of the reports of low-level seismic activity in areas of 

Red River fracking but was reassured by both Thompson and Grimes, who felt 

that the reports did not warrant any disclosures. R. at 5. Wilson also consulted 

with his engineering team who “expressed concern” about the capacity of Red 

River’s wastewater storage facility but told Wilson that the facility was 

“structurally sound.” Id.  

Wilson may have made negligent statements about Red River’s 

commitment to safety, but his behavior was far from the recklessness required 

for culpability. See Belmont, 708 F.3d at 485 (3d Cir. 2013) (Holding that 

culpability requires knowledge of the underlying fraud.). 

Plaintiffs’ claim must fail because they did not plead culpable 

participation with particularity. The intent behind the passage of Section 20(a) 

clearly indicates that only directors who are at least recklessly involved with 

the commission of the underlying violation should be liable. Here, plaintiffs 

have not alleged facts that would create a reasonable inference that Wilson’s 
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actions as CEO were reckless. Therefore, culpable participation should be a 

prima facie element for pleading a Section 20(a) claim.  

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the Circuit Court should be 

reversed, and the judgment of the District Court should be reinstated. 

 

 


